2007

Lori Jill Leavitt v. Labor Commission, Sinclair Oil Corp., Ace American Insurance Co., Petroleum Wholesale and American Home Insurance : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

ISSUES FOR REVIEW

1

Leavitt's injuries were not work-related, and as such was not entitled to Worker's Compensation benefits including: temporary total and temporary partial disability for both injuries; and permanent partial and permanent total disability for the December 7, 2005 injury.

The issues have been reserved for appeal because a final judgment against the Appellant by the Administrative Law Judge, and then the Utah Workforce Appeals Board took effect on July 12, 2007. A proper appeal was filed within 30 days. (See Addendum A).

STANDARDS OF REVIEW

The standard of review regarding the Board's finding of facts "is limited to determining whether they are supported by substantial evidence. Salt Lake Corp. v. Department of Employment Sec., 653 P.2d 1312 (Utah 1984).

Whether petitioner was injured in the scope and course of her employment presents a question of law which, absent a grant of discretion, this court reviews for correctness. See Morton Int'l, Inc. v. State Tax Comm'n., 588 (Utah 1991); Walls v. Industrial Comm'n., 966 (Utah App.1993).

"[F]indings of fact will be affirmed if they are 'supported by substantial evidence when viewed in light of the whole record before the court.'" Merriam v. Board of Review, , 450 (Utah App.1991) (quoting Nelson v. Department of Employment Sec., , 161 (Utah App.1990)). "Substantial evidence is that which a reasonable person 'might accept as adequate to

support a conclusion.'" *Id.* (quoting Grace Drilling Co. v. Board of Review, , 68 (Utah App.1989)). In conducting this review, we examine both sides of the record, and not simply that part of the record which supports the ALJ's findings. Tasters Ltd. v. Department of Employment Sec., , 365 (Utah App.1991).

"A question of law is reviewed by this court under a 'correction of error' standard." Brown & Root Indus. Serv. v. Industrial Comm'n, , 675 (Utah 1997) (quoting State v. Harmon, , 1199 (Utah 1995)).

STATUTORY PROVISIONS

34A-2-407. Reporting of industrial injuries -- Regulation of health care providers -- Funeral expenses.

(1) As used in this section, "physician" is as defined in Section **34A-2-111**.

(2) (a) Any employee sustaining an injury arising out of and in the course of employment shall provide notification to the employee's employer promptly of the injury.

(b) If the employee is unable to provide the notification required by Subsection (2)(a), the following may provide notification of the injury to the employee's employer:

(i) the employee's next-of-kin; or

(ii) the employee's attorney.

(c) An employee claiming benefits under this chapter, or Chapter 3, Utah Occupational Disease Act, shall comply with rules adopted by the commission regarding disclosure of medical records of the employee

medically relevant to the industrial accident or occupational disease claim.

(3) (a) An employee is barred for any claim of benefits arising from an injury if the employee fails to notify within the time period described in Subsection (3)(b):

- (i) the employee's employer in accordance with Subsection (2); or
- (ii) the division.

(b) The notice required by Subsection (3)(a) shall be made within:

- (i) 180 days of the day on which the injury occurs; or
- (ii) in the case of an occupational hearing loss, the time period specified in Section **34A-2-506**.

(4) The following constitute notification of injury required by Subsection (2):

(a) an employer's or physician's injury report filed with:

- (i) the division;
- (ii) the employer; or
- (iii) the employer's insurance carrier; or

(b) the payment of any medical or disability benefits by:

- (i) the employer; or
- (ii) the employer's insurance carrier.

(5) (a) In the form prescribed by the division, each employer shall file a report with the division of any:

- (i) work-related fatality; or
- (ii) work-related injury resulting in:
 - (A) medical treatment;

(B) loss of consciousness;

(C) loss of work;

(D) restriction of work; or

(E) transfer to another job.

(b) The employer shall file the report required by Subsection (5)(a) within seven days after:

(i) the occurrence of a fatality or injury;

(ii) the employer's first knowledge of the fatality or injury; or

(iii) the employee's notification of the fatality or injury.

(c) (i) An employer shall file a subsequent report with the division of any previously reported injury that later results in death.

(ii) The subsequent report required by this Subsection (5)(c) shall be filed with the division within seven days following:

(A) the death; or

(B) the employer's first knowledge or notification of the death.

(d) A report is not required to be filed under this Subsection (5) for minor injuries, such as cuts or scratches that require first-aid treatment only, unless:

(i) a treating physician files a report with the division in accordance with Subsection (9); or

(ii) a treating physician is required to file a report with the division in accordance with Subsection (9).

(6) An employer required to file a report under Subsection (5) shall provide the employee with:

(a) a copy of the report submitted to the division; and

(b) a statement, as prepared by the division, of the employee's rights and responsibilities related to the industrial injury.

(7) Each employer shall maintain a record in a manner prescribed by the division of all:

(a) work-related fatalities; or

(b) work-related injuries resulting in:

(i) medical treatment;

(ii) loss of consciousness;

(iii) loss of work;

(iv) restriction of work; or

(v) transfer to another job.

(8) (a) Except as provided in Subsection (8)(b), an employer who refuses or neglects to make reports, to maintain records, or to file reports with the division as required by this section is:

(i) guilty of a class C misdemeanor; and

(ii) subject to a civil assessment:

(A) imposed by the division, subject to the requirements of Title 63, Chapter 46b, Administrative Procedures Act; and

(B) that may not exceed \$500.

(b) An employer is not subject to the civil assessment or guilty of a class C misdemeanor under this Subsection (8) if:

(i) the employer submits a report later than required by this section; and

(ii) the division finds that the employer has shown good cause for submitting a report later than required by this section.

(c) A civil assessment collected under this Subsection (8) shall be deposited into the Uninsured Employers' Fund created in Section **34A-2-704**.

(9) (a) A physician attending an injured employee shall comply with rules established by the commission regarding:

(i) fees for physician's services;

(ii) disclosure of medical records of the employee medically relevant to the employee's industrial accident or occupational disease claim; and

(iii) reports to the division regarding:

(A) the condition and treatment of an injured employee; or

(B) any other matter concerning industrial cases that the physician is treating.

(b) A physician who is associated with, employed by, or bills through a hospital is subject to Subsection (9)(a).

(c) A hospital providing services for an injured employee is not subject to the requirements of Subsection (9)(a) except for rules made by the commission that are described in Subsection (9)(a)(ii) or (iii).

(d) The commission's schedule of fees may reasonably differentiate remuneration to be paid to providers of health services based on:

(i) the severity of the employee's condition;

(ii) the nature of the treatment necessary; and

(iii) the facilities or equipment specially required to deliver that treatment.

(e) This Subsection (9) does not prohibit a contract with a provider of health services relating to the pricing of goods and services.

(10) A copy of the initial report filed under Subsection (9)(a)(iii) shall be furnished to:

- (a) the division;
- (b) the employee; and
- (c) (i) the employer; or
- (ii) the employer's insurance carrier.

(11) (a) Except as provided in Subsection (11)(b), a person subject to Subsection (9)(a)(iii) who fails to comply with Subsection (9)(a)(iii) is guilty of a class C misdemeanor for each offense.

(b) A person subject to Subsection (9)(a)(iii) is not guilty of a class C misdemeanor under this Subsection (11), if:

- (i) the person files a late report; and
- (ii) the division finds that there is good cause for submitting a late report.

(12) (a) Subject to appellate review under Section **34A-1-303**, the commission has exclusive jurisdiction to hear and determine:

(i) whether goods provided to or services rendered to an employee are compensable pursuant to this chapter or Chapter 3, Utah Occupational Disease Act, including:

- (A) medical, nurse, or hospital services;
- (B) medicines; and
- (C) artificial means, appliances, or prosthesis;

(ii) the reasonableness of the amounts charged or paid for a good or service described in Subsection (12)(a)(i); and

(iii) collection issues related to a good or service described in Subsection (12)(a)(i). (b) Except as provided in Subsection (12)(a), Subsection **34A-2-211(7)**, or Section **34A-2-212**, a person may not maintain a cause of action in any forum within this state other than the commission for collection or payment for goods or services described in Subsection (12)(a) that are compensable under this chapter or Chapter 3, Utah Occupational Disease Act.

34A-2-401. Compensation for industrial accidents to be paid.

(1) An employee described in Section **34A-2-104** who is injured and the dependents of each such employee who is killed, by accident arising out of and in the course of the employee's employment, wherever such injury occurred, if the accident was not purposely self-inflicted, shall be paid:

(a) compensation for loss sustained on account of the injury or death;

(b) the amount provided in this chapter for:

(i) medical, nurse, and hospital services;

(ii) medicines; and

(iii) in case of death, the amount of funeral expenses.

(2) The responsibility for compensation and payment of medical, nursing, and hospital services and medicines, and funeral expenses provided under this chapter shall be:

(a) on the employer and the employer's insurance carrier; and

(b) not on the employee.

(3) Payment of benefits provided by this chapter or Chapter 3, Utah Occupational Disease Act, shall commence within 30 calendar days after any final award by the commission.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Appellant was denied worker's compensation benefits by the Appellee, upon which said claims were adjudicated and denied by the Administrative Law Judge. (See Volume 1 Exhibit 153-164). Upon Appeal to the Workforce Appeals Board, the decision of the ALJ was affirmed. (See Volume 1 Exhibit 184-185).

The administrative agency denied benefits based on the Appellant's reporting of her first industrial injury beyond the 180 days statute of limitations; and that her injury was not work related. (See Volume 1 Exhibit 157-158).

The administrative agency denied benefits based on the Appellant's second industrial injury, by stating that the second injury represented a recurrence of pre-existing conditions. Further, the court held that the second injury was not legally caused by lifting product at work because "carrying a 39 pound tote did not amount to an atypical nonemployment activity." (See Volume 1 Exhibit 160).

The Appellant contends that the Appellees were given notice sufficient to extend benefits for the first work-related incident; and that the second work-related injury is compensable whether or not there were

pre-existing conditions due to medical and legal causation and the decisions of the Utah Supreme Court.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

1. On approximately October 4, 2004, the Appellant was working for Sinclair Oil as the store manager in Fillmore, Utah, when she injured her back, putting away store product from a delivery. (See Transcript-Page 120).
2. The product Ms. Leavitt was putting away were cases filled with six gallons of water in each box. She testified that she normally has to put away 10 to 15 cases of water with each delivery. (See Transcript-Page 118).
3. This was the first time that Ms. Leavitt had hurt her back since an automobile accident that occurred in 1991. (See Transcript-Page 116).
4. There was no medical evidence whatsoever that Ms. Leavitt had to have any medical treatment on her back from 1993 until her work-related injury in October, 2004. (Id. at 117).
5. The day after the October, 2004 incident, Ms. Leavitt went to a Sinclair manager's meeting in Salt Lake City. (Id. at 121). Because of this accident, Ms. Leavitt walked into the meeting using two canes. The canes belonged to her brother and her grandfather. (Id. at 123).
6. The people at the meeting were surprised to see Ms. Leavitt in such pain and using the canes for walking. (Id. at 124). Ms. Leavitt stated in her

previous deposition and at trial that she told the supervisors at the manager's meeting that she did not know what happened, but she was "working so much". (Id at 199).

7. The morning of the meeting, Ms. Leavitt talked to her supervisor, Robby Curry, and told him of her pain, and that something happened the night before to cause her pain. (Id.).

8. At this point, Ms. Leavitt honestly thought that her back was flaring up over the car accident injury she suffered 12 years previous, even though she felt a pull in her back when she was putting the cases of water away. (Id. at 125.).

9. Not long after the meeting, Ms. Leavitt went to her medical professional, Dr. Jaffe, and she told him that she thought the injury may have been because of the car accident. Dr. Jaffe instructed her to take an MRI, and then he could give her his opinion. (Transcript at 126).

10. At some time in December, 2004 or January, 2005, after Dr. Jaffe looked at the MRI, he told Ms. Leavitt that her back problem was a new injury. (Id. at 126 and 127).

11. Dr. Jaffe eventually wrote a letter stating that both the October, 2004 and the December 2005, injuries were work related. (See Exhibit Volume 2-page 194).

12. Notwithstanding not knowing for sure how her back was injured until a month or two later, Ms. Leavitt told her supervisor, Mr. Curry, on the day of the accident, in October, 2004, that she pulled something in her back

while putting away a water delivery. (Transcript at 128). She also told him that it may have been because of her car accident injury some 12 years previous. (Id.)

13. In direct examination Robby Curry stated that Ms. Leavitt told him that she hurt her back in October, 2004, but he didn't recall how she said it. (Transcript at page 27, 31, and 202).

14. Mr. Curry testified that she did not have back problems before this incident. (Id. at 26).

15. Mr. Curry reasoned that he did not believe the October, 2004 accident was work-related because he did not remember formally reporting it. (Id. at 27).

16. Mr. Curry testified that after the incident, Ms. Leavitt took some time off of work (about 18 days- Transcript at 164), and received treatment for her back injury. (Id at 28 and 29).

17. After taking 18 days off, Ms. Leavitt was back at work and performed her duties, including working much overtime until her second accident at work in December, 2005.

18. Ms. Leavitt had no limitations or restrictions put upon her from her employment from October, 2004 through December 6, 2005. (Id. at 29).

19. Ms. Leavitt did receive five epidural injections for her back between the time of the two injuries. (Volume 2 Exhibit 193).

20. A few days before the December, 2005 accident, Dr. Jaffe did send in a note to Ms. Leavitt's work with lifting restrictions of 30 pounds

infrequent and 15 pounds repeated. (Id. at 175). This was due to her being forced to work too quickly after receiving a shot of pain medication. (Id at 173, 174, and 175).

21. In approximately November, 2005, the Sinclair station was sold to Petroleum Wholesale, and Ms. Leavitt stayed on as the manager of the Fillmore store. (Id at 34). Ms. Leavitt's new supervisor was Dave Inlay. (Id. at 38).

22. Dave Inlay testified that he was not aware of the October, 2004 incident, but he knew (testified that he knew) that she was in a car accident that hurt her back two years previous to September, 2005. (Id at 39).

23. Ms. Leavitt testified that her car accident was in 1991, and there are absolutely no medical records related to her back from 1993 until October, 2004. (Id.)

24. Mr. Inlay testified that Ms. Leavitt did not have any back related impairments from September, 2005 until the incident in December, 2005. (Transcript at 40).

25. Mr. Inlay said that Ms. Leavitt called him in early December, 2005 and said that she hurt her back, but did not tell him how she hurt it. (Id. at 44).

26. Evidence was presented that between October, 2004 and December, 2005, Ms. Leavitt worked numerous hours of overtime each week as the store manager. (Volume 1 Exhibit 135-139).

27. Evidence was presented that Ms. Leavitt had a good quality of life between October, 2004, and December, 2005, in that she went 4-wheeling, worked numerous hours, and was a happy person. (See transcript pages 182, 226, 261).

28. Ms. Leavitt testified that on December 7, 2005, as she was putting away another delivery order with cases weighing between 30-40 pounds, she felt a crunch and a snap in her back, and then had excruciating pain. (Id. at 136, 177 and 178).

29. Ms. Leavitt testified that the following morning (December 8, 2005) she was in great pain and that she told Mr. Inlay that she hurt her back putting away the delivery order the previous day, and that she was going to go see her doctor. (Id. at 141).

30. Mr. Inlay told her to make the store deposits, sign a document in Scipio, and return her keys. (Id.). Ms. Leavitt protested because of her pain, and because her doctor was in Salt Lake which was a long drive for her. (Id.)

31. Nevertheless, Ms. Leavitt made the deposit (Volume 1 Exhibit 134), called the store headquarters to make sure she did not have to sign the Scipio paperwork right then, and drove to her doctor's office. (Transcript at 142).

32. The doctor had her go into an emergency surgery for her back. (Id. at 146).

33. Mr. Inlay testified that he did not know that a report of the injury was made to his company shortly after the accident on December 8, 2005. (Id. at 44). The Petitioner asserts she made said notification (volume 2 Exhibit 199), and Ms. Leavitt testified that the hospital faxed it to store headquarters and to Mr. Inlay. (Transcript at 147).

34. Mr. Inlay denied ever receiving Ms. Leavitt's notification of injury. (Id. at 45).

35. Mr. Inlay does remember on December 11, 2005, receiving a facsimile from the hospital where Ms. Leavitt was receiving treatment for her back. He did not remember what it said, because he or someone sent it right out to the HR Department. (Id. at 45).

36. Nevertheless, after Ms. Leavitt was denied worker's compensation benefits for the December, 2005 accident, on December 21, 2005, she filed an Application for Hearing with the Labor Commission who in turn notified the employer/Respondent. (Volume 1 Exhibit 1).

37. After the surgery Ms. Leavitt called Mr. Inlay to update him on the details of what had happened. (Volume 1 Exhibit 133).

38. Mr. Inlay told her she was fired for not making the store deposit. Ms. Leavitt called store headquarters in Houston who told her that Mr. Inlay told them that she was fired for not making the deposit. (Transcript at 147 and 148). Ms. Leavitt made the deposit before she went to see Dr. Jaffe on December 8, 2005. (Volume 1 Exhibit 134).

39. Before the injury on December 7, 2005, Mr. Inlay stated that he had never seen Ms. Leavitt use a cane or have back problems. (Id. at 46). He stated that Ms. Leavitt told him that she hurt her back because of a bad mattress. (Transcript at 46).

40. Mr. Inlay testified that on or about December 7, 2005, (after the accident), that Ms. Leavitt called him and told him that she had to go to the doctor. (Id. at 47).

41. On December 8, 2005 Ms. Leavitt was admitted and had emergency surgery. (Volume 4 Exhibit 67).

42. Mr. Inlay testified that Ms. Leavitt was fired for leaving work without reporting it. (Transcript at 47-48).

43. Mr. Inlay also testified that Ms. Leavitt's mother called him to tell him that she was "in with the doctor", yet she was still fired. (Id. at 49).

44. Mr. Inlay eventually admitted that Ms. Leavitt's mother called more than once, and that another person called him and told him that Ms. Leavitt was in surgery or going into surgery. (Id at 51 and 52.).

45. Ms. Leavitt produced her phone records evidencing the calls made to Mr. Inlay on December 8, 2005 and December 12, 2005. (Volume 1 Exhibit 133). Nevertheless, Ms. Leavitt was still fired, and denied workers compensation benefits.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Appellant had two work-related incidents, one in October, 2004, and one in December, 2005. The evidence showed that she timely

reported both accidents as work-related, although the first one was not in written form until early 2006. Both accidents were medically and legally caused by her employment.

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