2007

# Lori Jill Leavitt v. Sinclair Oil Corp., Ace American Insurance Co., Petroleum Wholesale, American Home Assurance, and Labor Commission of Utah : Brief of Respondent

Utah Court of Appeals

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

**SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS**

Under Utah law, an injured worker has the burden to prove both medical and legal causation to establish a compensable workers' compensation claim. Nyrehn v. Industrial Comm'n of Utah, 800 P.2d 330, 334 (Utah App. 1990). The Labor Commission properly concluded that Ms. Leavitt failed to meet her burden to prove legal causation under Utah law. The Utah Supreme Court has stated that "where the claimant suffers from a

preexisting condition which contributes to the injury, an unusual or extraordinary exertion is required to prove legal causation.” Allen v. Industrial Comm’n, 729 P.2d 15, 26 (Utah 1986). The undisputed evidence presented at the administrative hearing clearly established that Ms. Leavitt had preexisting back conditions which contributed to her injury. Indeed, Ms. Leavitt does not dispute that her preexisting conditions contributed to the alleged December 2005 injury. Thus, the only disputed issue on appeal is whether the alleged industrial incident involved an unusual or extraordinary exertion under Utah law.

The Labor Commission made findings of fact that “the preponderance of the evidence in this case established that as Ms. Leavitt carried a tote full of candy weighing no more than 39 pounds she experienced a snap and crunch in her low back.” (R.Vol.1, p. 159). Based upon the evidence, the Labor Commission concluded that Ms. Leavitt’s exertions did not amount to an atypical, nonemployment activity. The Labor Commission specifically concluded that men and women in nonemployment life typically and routinely carry loads of 39 pounds. (R.Vol.1, p. 160). Based upon that analysis, the Labor Commission properly dismissed Ms. Leavitt’s claims for failure to meet the requirements of legal causation under Utah law.

In Allen, the Utah Supreme Court adopted a “two-part causation test” which requires an injured worker to prove both legal and medical causation. The Utah Supreme Court stated that “compensable injuries can best be identified by first considering the legal cause of the injury **and then** its medical cause.” Allen, 729 P.2d at 25 (emphasis added). Where the Labor Commission properly concluded that Ms. Leavitt failed to meet

her burden to prove legal causation under Utah law, there is no need to address the issue of whether Ms. Leavitt failed to meet her separate and distinct burden to prove medical causation under Utah law.

However, even if medical causation were still a viable issue on appeal, the evidence demonstrated that Ms. Leavitt could not meet her burden with respect to medical causation either. The Labor Commission found that although a dispute existed between Dr. Jaffe and Dr. Knoebel concerning apportionment of medical causation, “all of the medical professionals agreed that Ms. Leavitt’s L4-5 disc herniation surgically addressed on December 9, 2005 represented a recurrence of her low back problems prior to December 7, 2005.” (R.Vol.1, p.160). Thus, in the absence of any medical evidence to demonstrate industrial medical causation, Ms. Leavitt failed to meet her burden to prove medical causation under Utah law. Accordingly, her claims were properly dismissed by the Utah Labor Commission.

In Point III of her brief, Ms. Leavitt argues that a legal standard from Utah Code Ann. § 35-1-69, which pertains to apportionment for the Second Injury Fund on compensable claims, should be utilized in lieu of the two-part causation test set forth in Allen. However, the Utah Court of Appeals has specifically stated that cases construing Utah Code Ann. § 35-1-69 are inapplicable to the issue of causation in that the statute and those cases “deal with apportionment of liability between the employer and the Employers’ Reinsurance Fund for benefits which are awarded when there is a preexisting condition. Such apportionment occurs subsequent to the determination that benefits will

be awarded and therefore is irrelevant to the inquiry of whether benefits will be awarded under Allen.” Fred Meyer v. Industrial Comm’n of Utah, 800 P.2d 825, 829 FN6 (Utah App. 1990). It is well established that the Allen test is to be used in Utah to determine whether an injured worker can meet his or her burden of proof to establish legal and medical causation. Ms. Leavitt’s argument to the contrary is contrary to Utah law.

### **ARGUMENT**

- I. Ms. Leavitt’s claims were properly denied and dismissed for her failure to meet the burden to prove legal causation where the evidence demonstrated that Ms. Leavitt had preexisting conditions which contributed to the subject injury and that the alleged December 7, 2005 industrial incident did not constitute an unusual or extraordinary exertion under Utah law.**

Ms. Leavitt cannot prevail because the Labor Commission did not abuse its discretion in concluding that the preexisting conditions contributed and that the alleged December 2005 incident of lifting from 21 to 39 pounds was not an unusual exertion. The Utah Supreme Court has stated that “where the claimant suffers from a preexisting condition which contributes to the injury, an unusual or extraordinary exertion is required to prove legal causation.” Allen v. Industrial Comm’n, 729 P.2d 15, 26 (Utah 1986). The Utah Court of Appeals has clarified that:

The purpose behind the legal causation test for preexisting conditions announced in Allen was to distinguish between injuries that coincidentally occur at work because a preexisting condition results in symptoms which appear during work hours without any enhancement from the workplace, and those injuries which occur because some condition or exertion required by the employment increases the risk of injury which the worker normally faces in everyday life.

Acosta v. Labor Comm'n, 44 P.3d 819, 827 (Utah App. 2002). The findings of fact made by the Labor Commission demonstrate that Ms. Leavitt had preexisting conditions which contributed to her injury and that her exertion was not unusual or extraordinary under Utah law. The Labor Commission properly denied Ms. Leavitt's claims for failure to meet her burden to prove legal causation. The findings were not an abuse of discretion beyond the bounds of reasonableness or rationality.

**A. The medical evidence presented to the Labor Commission proved that Ms. Leavitt's extensive preexisting conditions contributed to her alleged December 7, 2005 industrial injury.**

The medical evidence presented at the administrative hearing chronicled a long history of preexisting conditions which contributed to the alleged industrial injury. In January of 1992, Dr. Fosberg obtained a CT scan of Ms. Leavitt's lumbar spine that revealed a focal disc tissue herniation at L4-5 resulting in compression upon the adjacent thecal sac. (R. Vol. 1: p.156-157). In July of 1992, Dr. Schwartz diagnosed Ms. Leavitt with "herniated nucleus pulposus L4-L5 on the left." (R. Vol. 1: p.157). On November 17, 2002, Dr. Schwartz performed a left L4-5 hemilaminectomy and discectomy. (R. Vol. 1: p.157). Dr. Schwartz postoperatively confirmed his original diagnosis of "herniated nucleus pulposus L4-L5 left." (R. Vol. 1: p.157). Based upon that evidence, the Labor Commission concluded that the unrefuted medical evidence in the case established a preexisting surgically treated herniated disc at the L4-5 level of the lumbar spine. (R. Vol. 1: p.157).

On October 5, 2004, Dr. Pilar Dechet indicated that Ms. Leavitt woke up on that date with severe low back pain “without any acute or repetitive trauma.” Ms. Leavitt also complained of radiation down her extremity and difficulty with mobility. Dr. Dechet noted that Ms. Leavitt had a previous L4-5 discectomy for a herniated disc. On October 5, 2004, a lumbar MRI showed large disc protrusion on the left approximately 1.2 cm across its base. It was noted that the protrusion could be impinging the left L5 nerve root and possibly the left S1 nerve root. (R. Vol.3: pp. 4-5).

On October 12, 2004, Dr. Jaffe noted that Ms. Leavitt had a large left L4-5 disc herniation for which Dr. Pilar Dechet had recommended the epidural steroid injections. (R. Vol.3: p.81). Injections were performed on that date and again in November 2004, April 2005, August 2005, and November 2005. (R. Vol.3: pp. 78, 75, 73, and 69). Ms. Leavitt testified during the administrative hearing that the November 22, 2005 injection did not work and that her condition worsened. She testified that she had to use a cane at work after that date.

On December 5, 2005, Ms. Leavitt called Dr. Jaffe for a surgical consult because her left leg went numb. (R. Vol.3, p.68). On December 6, 2005, one day prior to the alleged December 7, 2005 industrial incident, Dr. Jaffe recommended a repeat MRI and follow-up appointment to evaluate for surgery. (R. Vol.3, p.68).

On December 8, 2005, the day after the alleged industrial incident, Dr. Jaffe noted that Ms. Leavitt had undergone five L5 selective nerve root blocks on prior occasions. He indicated that “[a]ll previous injections allowed her to walk and function but the last

one was not beneficial.” (R. Vol.1, p.162). Dr. Peggy Ensign also obtained an MRI scan of Ms. Leavitt’s lumbar spine which was read to show persistent left lateral recess disc herniation at L4-L5 without significant change in size compared with the October 5, 2004 MRI. (R. Vol.1, p.160); (R. Vol.3, p.3). Dr. Jaffe noted that the “MRI taken today shows a recurrent left paracentral L4-5 disc herniation.” (R. Vol.3, p.163). On December 8, 2005, Dr. Bauman indicated that “[a] repeat MRI scan shows once again, recurrent disk herniation at the L4-5 level on the left, **pretty much unchanged from MRI scan October of 2004.**” (R. Vol.3, p.164) (emphasis added).

As outlined above, the medical evidence in this case demonstrated that Ms. Leavitt had extensive preexisting conditions including a large L4-5 disc herniation. Additionally, the objective medical evidence including the December 8, 2005 MRI scan confirmed that the large preexisting L4-5 herniation was not significantly different from the prior MRI scan. Accordingly, the evidence demonstrated that Ms. Leavitt’s lumbar condition as of December 8, 2005 was simply a continuation of the recurrent disc herniation at L4-5 which had been diagnosed on October 5, 2004, more than one year prior to the alleged December 7, 2005 industrial injury.

Based upon the foregoing, Dr. Knoebel and Dr. Anderson concluded that the December 7, 2005 industrial incident did not cause Ms. Leavitt’s medical conditions and that this was simply a continuation of her ongoing preexisting conditions. Even Ms. Leavitt’s treating doctor, Dr. Jaffe concluded that the her preexisting conditions contributed to her injury in the amount of 65%. (R. Vol.3, p. 57). Given this unanimous

medical evidence as to contribution of preexisting conditions, the Labor Commission properly concluded that Ms. Leavitt's extensive preexisting conditions contributed to her injury and that Ms. Leavitt was, therefore, required to prove an unusual or extraordinary exertion to meet her burden to prove legal causation under Allen. Certainly the Labor Commission did not exceed the discretionary bounds of reasonableness and rationality by reaching this conclusion in the face of unanimous medical evidence.

**B. The Labor Commission properly concluded that the alleged December 7, 2005 industrial incident did not involve an unusual or extraordinary exertion under Utah law.**

The Labor Commission did not abuse its discretion in concluding that lifting 21-39 pounds was not an unusual exertion. Where an injured worker suffers from a preexisting condition which contributes to the injury, "an unusual or extraordinary exertion is required to prove legal causation." Allen, 729 P.2d at 26. The Utah Supreme Court clarified in Allen that "[t]he precipitating exertion must be compared with the usual wear and tear and exertions of nonemployment life, not the nonemployment life of the particular worker." *Id.* at 26. The Utah Supreme Court later clarified that "the Commission must find that his employment activities involved exertion or stress in excess of the normally expected level of nonemployment activity for men and women in the latter half of the twentieth century. If such a finding is made, then the requirement of legal cause is satisfied because it is presumed that the employment increased the risk of injury to which that worker was otherwise subject in his nonemployment life." Price River Coal v. Industrial Commission, 731 P.2d 1079, 1082 (Utah 1986).

The Utah Supreme Court set forth a list of examples of typical activities which are not unusual or extraordinary under a legal causation analysis under Utah law. The court stated that “[t]ypical activities and exertions expected of men and women in the latter part of the 20<sup>th</sup> century, for example, include taking full garbage cans to the street, lifting and carrying baggage for travel, changing a flat tire on an automobile, lifting a small child to chest height and climbing the stairs in buildings.” Allen, 729 P.2d at 26. Thus, industrial incidents involving exertions which are at the exertion levels of those listed activities or less will not be considered unusual or extraordinary under Utah law. Given the specific examples, it was certainly not outside the bounds of reasonableness and rationality to conclude that lifting 21-39 pounds was not an unusual exertion.

The preponderance of evidence demonstrated that the alleged industrial incident did not constitute an unusual or extraordinary exertion under Utah law. On December 7, 2005, Ms. Leavitt was working for Petroleum Wholesale when she picked up a plastic tote filled with boxes of candy. As she carried it around the counter, she felt a snap and crunch in her low back. (R. Vol.1, p.159). Ms. Leavitt testified that the totes containing candy weighed approximately 21 pounds each. Dawn Christensen testified that the totes containing candy weighed approximately 25 pounds. Robbie Curry testified that the full totes weighed approximately 22 pounds. Dave Inlay estimated and calculated weight of 23 to 39 pounds based on his estimation the candy boxes weighed between two and three pounds and came 10 to 12 boxes per tote plus three pounds for the weight of the tote. Such observations from Mr. Inlay would yield a minimum weight of 23 pounds and a

maximum weight of 39 pounds per tote. (R. V.1, p.159). Based upon that evidence, the Labor Commission concluded that the preponderance of the evidence established that as Ms. Leavitt carried a tote full of candy weighing no more than 39 pounds, she experienced a snap and crunch in her low back accompanied by discomfort. (R. V.1, p.159).

The Labor Commission noted that men and women in nonemployment life typically and routinely carry loads of 39 pounds. (R. V.1, p.164). As a result, the exertions in carrying a tote that weighed, at most, 39 pounds did not amount to an atypical nonemployment activity. Therefore, the claim based upon the December 7, 2005 incident was properly dismissed with prejudice for failure to meet the requirements of legal causation.

The Labor Commission's analysis of the exertion was proper and consistent with Utah law. It certainly does not exceed the bounds of reasonableness and rationality. As outlined above, three of the four witnesses, including Ms. Leavitt, testified that the tote she was carrying on December 7, 2005 weighed 25 pounds or less. In addition, Dave Inlay testified that the totes could weigh from 23 pounds to 39 pounds. The Labor Commission was correct in its conclusion that men and women typically and routinely carry loads of 39 pounds, and such conclusion is certainly within the bounds of discretion.

As outlined above, the Utah Supreme Court specifically listed lifting and carrying baggage for travel as a typical exertion expected of men and women. Allen, 729 P.2d at 26. Baggage for travel quite often weighs quite in excess of 39 pounds and airlines

typically do not charge extra fees for what they determine to be an “overweight bag” until the weight reaches 50 pounds. Thus, baggage weighing less than 50 pounds would be considered by the airlines to be typical, usual, and ordinary. A comparison of the exertion of Ms. Leavitt on December 7, 2005 as compared with the typical exertions of men and women lifting and carrying baggage for travel supports the Labor Commission’s conclusion that her exertion was not unusual or extraordinary based upon the language set forth in Allen.

Another specific example of usual and ordinary exertion given by the Utah Supreme Court in Allen is changing a flat tire on an automobile. To remove a flat tire with the rim from an automobile involves removing a heavy tire with awkward twisting while either bending over or squatting down. That exertion would be greater than the exertion of Ms. Leavitt in lifting a 39 pound tote. The Labor Commission’s conclusion that Ms. Leavitt’s exertion was not unusual or extraordinary is entirely consistent with the law set forth in Allen. Accordingly, such conclusion is not outside the bounds of reasonableness and rationality, and the Labor Commission’s ruling should be affirmed.

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